Not var 1990

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 76,090 (Consolidated with Case No. 76,803)

DICK LOCKE,

Petitioner,

v.

PAUL M. HAWKES,

Respondent.

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District State of Florida

Kevin X. Crowley, Esquire FL BAR NO.: 253286 Cobb Cole & Bell 315 South Calhoun Street Suite 500 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 681 3233 Attorney for Petitioner

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Petitioner Dick Locke, will be referred to by name or as the Petitioner. The Respondent Paul M. Hawkes will be referred to by name or as the Respondent. Citations to the original record will be made by the letter "R" and the appropriate page number. References to the appendix will be made by the letter "A" and the appropriate page number.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This action initially arose in the context of a political campaign preceding the November 8, 1988 general election to select a representative for Florida House of Representatives District 26. Prior to the election, Respondent Paul M. Hawkes, a contender for the District 26 seat, filed a petition in Citrus County Circuit Court invoking the provisions of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, to coerce the production of documents of the then incumbent, Petitioner Dick Locke (R-1-3). The records sought by the Respondent were those relating to the district office allotment received by Locke pursuant to Section 11.13(4), Florida Statutes. (R-2). On September 28, 1988, Locke furnished to Hawkes copies of all bank deposit slips, monthly bank statements, checks and check stubs for the period 1985 forward. (R-9). These records reflected the receipt and deposit of each allowance received by Locke pursuant to Section 11.13(4), Florida Statutes and each item of expenditure during this period. Copies of such records occupy 425 pages of the original record. (R-10-435). In furnishing these records, Locke did so as a matter of <u>legislative</u> policy and not as a function of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes (R-5, 9, 455).

Thereafter, on October 4, 1988, Locke served his Motion To

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Locke won re-election in November, 1988. In the November 1990 election for House District 26, Locke and Hawkes again faced each other. At this election Hawkes prevailed and he began serving his term of office on November 20, 1990.

Dismiss (R-5-8). Following notice and hearing, the circuit court entered its Final Order (R-470-471) dismissing the Chapter 119 petition on the grounds that the court was without subject matter jurisdiction under the separation of powers doctrine. (The court also held that if it did have jurisdiction it would find as a matter of statutory interpretation that Chapter 119 does not apply to the legislative branch of Florida government). Thereafter an appeal was taken by Hawkes to the Fifth District Court of Appeal which, in an opinion which became final on April 30, 1990, reversed the order of the trial court (Appendix A). The Petitioner Dick Locke timely filed his Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction and following submission of jurisdictional briefs by the parties, this Court accepted jurisdiction by Order dated October 31, 1990.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Legislative records are open. They are open to any member of the public in the manner set forth in legislative rules and in accordance with legislative policy. In this case, the judiciary is being urged to assert control over legislative papers. Neither the Florida Constitution nor the Florida Statutes permit such an invasion of the legislative province.

As a fundamental tenet of Florida's Constitution, the judiciary is without jurisdiction over matters of legislative procedure. Case law demonstrates that the control and direction of the papers of each branch of Florida government are matters of

internal procedure. The doctrine of separation of powers requires that the legislature alone is empowered to develop and administer policy regarding its legislative papers. Furthermore, by its terms, Chapter 119 does not have application to the Florida legislature. If there exists any ambiguity with respect to this premise, the external indicia of legislative intent make it clear.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### POINT 1

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ASSERTING JURISDICTION TO COMPEL THE PRODUCTION OF LEGISLATIVE PAPERS.

While the circuit court founded its ruling upon a lack of jurisdiction by reason of the doctrine of separation of powers, the district court of appeal glossed the application of the doctrine without analysis. The only reference to the separation of powers doctrine is a two-sentence dismissal of its applicability (A-3). The principle that one branch of government shall not intrude upon another is fundamental to Florida government. The failure of the district court to consider this principle is the basis for its error.

The legislative power of the State of Florida is vested in the Florida Legislature consisting of the Florida House of Representatives and the Florida Senate. Article III, Section 1, Fla. Const. In the implementation and furtherance of this provision, Article III, Section 4(a), Fla. Const., provides that "Each house shall determine its rules of procedure". These

provisions commit the determination of legislative procedure to the legislative branch of government. Further, Article II, Section 3, Fla. Const., mandates the separation of the legislative, judicial, and executive branches of state government and directs that "no person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein."

The judiciary's role in regard to legislative powers is clearly defined: The judiciary is to measure enactments of the legislature against the constitutional requirements for the making of laws. General Motors Acceptance Corporation v. State, 152 Fla. 297, 11 So.2d 482 (1943). In Carlton v. Mathews, 103 Fla. 301, 137 So. 815 (1931), this court stated:

...while it is the highest duty of the courts to enforce the principles of the constitution, they should be careful not to invade the domain of the legislative department. 137 So. at 847, 848.

The parameters of judicial authority in legislative matters were examined in the light of the separation of powers doctrine in <a href="https://doctrine.com/Brewer v. Gray">Brewer v. Gray</a>, 86 So.2d 799 (Fla. 1956):

The Legislature is a coordinate branch of the government and even though the performance of a duty is required by the Constitution, the courts, being another coordinate branch of government, are not authorized to compel the Legislature to exercise a purely legislative prerogative. 86 So.2d at 803.

In Crawford v. Gilchrist, 64 Fla. 41, 59 So. 963 (1912) this Court emphasized the broad power of each house of the legislature to interpret and enforce its own procedures. Such power extends beyond the authority merely to adopt formal rules:

The provision that each house "shall determine rules of its proceedings" does not restrict the power given to the mere formulation of standing rules, or to the proceedings of the body in ordinary legislative matters; when exercised by a majority of a constitutional quorum, such authority extends to the determination of the propriety and effect of any action as it is taken by the body as it proceeds in the exercise of any power, in the transaction of any business, or in the performance of any duty conferred upon it by the constitution. 59 So. at 968.

In <u>McPherson v. Flynn</u>, 397 So.2d 665 (Fla. 1981), this Court held that under the doctrine of separation of powers, it lacked jurisdiction to inquire into the qualifications of a duly elected member of the House of Representatives pursuant to Article III, Section 2, Florida Constitution. The Court stated that:

...the doctrine of separation of powers requires that the judiciary refrain from deciding a matter that is committed to a coordinate branch of government by the demonstrable text of the constitution. 397 So.2d 667.

Moreover, in applying the separation of powers doctrine to public records and open government statutes, this Court has consistently guarded the power of the coordinate branches of Florida government from encroachment by another branch. In <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 336 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1976) this Court was faced with a statute which ostensibly required the destruction of <u>judicial</u> records. The Court explained the nature of the separation of powers doctrine as follows:

The separation of powers of the three branches of government - legislative, executive and judicial - is a constitutional rule upon which our system of government has survived from its inception. It is essential that to safeguard this system the preservation of the inherent powers of the three branches must be free from encroachment or

infringement by one upon the other.

\* \* \*

To permit a law to stand wherein the legislature requires the destruction of judicial records would permit an unconstitutional encroachment by the legislative branch on the procedural responsibilities granted exclusively to this court. 336 So.2d at 95.

In 1981 this Court was presented squarely with the question of whether Chapter 119 applied to the judiciary. The records at issue in <u>In Re Advisory Opinion Concerning the Applicability of Chapter 119</u>, Florida Statutes, 398 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1981) were investigative files of the Florida Bar. The Court stated:

If judicial entities are included within the scope of chapter 119, the legislature has sought to exercise legislative power concerning a matter that is explicitly withheld and vested elsewhere in the constitution, i.e., Article V. 398 So.2d at 447.

The court concluded with its holding:

The unauthorized practice of law investigative files of the Florida Bar, as an official arm of this court, are subject to the control and direction of this court and not to either of the other branches of the government.

398 So.2d at 448.

Likewise, legislative records are subject to the exclusive control and direction of the legislature and not to the interpretive or coercive power of the other branches of government.

In <u>Moffitt v. Willis</u>, 459 So.2d 1018 (Fla. 1984), this Court ruled dispositively on the issue presented here. In that case, the Court was responding to a petition for writ of prohibition by the legislature when it held that the judiciary was without jurisdiction to invade the legislature's internal procedures with

respect to open meetings. The court's analysis focused on the authority of the legislature over its internal affairs:

Article III, section 4(a) of the Florida Constitution gives each house the power to determine its own rules of procedures. As historically interpreted by this court, this provision gives each house the power and prerogative not only to adopt, but also to interpret, enforce, waive or suspend whatever procedures it deems necessary or desirable so long as constitutional requirements for the enactment of <u>laws</u> are not violated. 459 So.2d at 1021.

#### Thus, the Court concluded:

Just as the legislature may not invade our province of procedural rulemaking for the court system, we may not invade the legislature's province of internal procedural rulemaking. 459 So.2d at 1022.

Rule 1.11, Rules of the Florida House of Representatives, entitled, "Legislative Records", embodies precisely the type of procedural rulemaking that Moffitt v. Willis viewed as inviolate from judicial encroachment. (Appendix B; R-443). The willingness of the district court to assume jurisdiction to coerce legislative records pursuant to Chapter 119 conflicts with the separation of powers doctrine as articulated in Moffitt v. Willis. To assert jurisdiction to coerce records under Chapter 119 is to co-opt the power of the legislature to apply and interpret its own rules on the same subject.

Rule 1.11 of the Florida House of Representatives and Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, are incompatible. House Rule 1.11 sets forth the specific categories of legislative papers and records which are available for public inspection. In contrast, Chapter 119 makes all executive branch records open unless statutorily

exempted. To overlook the jurisdictional bar to addressing the meaning of House Rule 1.11, or to ignore it, is to nullify and suspend the legislative prerogative respecting the control and direction of legislative papers. Moreover, the determination of which papers and records produced in the course of legislative business are subject to House Rule 1.11 is exclusively a legislative determination. As stated in Moffitt v. Willis:

The petitioners [legislators] have never conceded that the meetings complained of were secret legislative committee meetings. In our view, a judicial determination of this matter hinges on the meaning of legislative committee meeting and what activity constitutes such a meeting. At this point, the judiciary comes into head-to-head conflict with the legislative rulemaking prerogative. 459 So.2d at 1021.

Likewise, the judiciary comes into head-to-head conflict with the legislative prerogative when it exercises jurisdiction to direct the meaning, management and control of legislative records.<sup>2</sup>

Under Florida's Constitution, <u>each house</u> of the legislature is invested with the power to govern its internal procedures. If a statute were to be applied in a manner which impaired the power of the House of Representatives or the Senate to make, enforce, interpret or waive its internal procedural rules, the statute itself would be unconstitutional as applied. Just as the power of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The House of Representatives has recently acted again in exercising its prerogative to manage and control legislative records. House Rule 1.11 was initially adopted on November 22, 1988. (R-443). On November 20, 1990, at its organization session, the House adopted House Resolution No. 1 (Appendix C) which amended Rule 1.11 to emphasize that legislative records include those maintained in district offices as well as those maintained in Tallahassee.

the judiciary to control its papers is a contemporaneous power belonging to the Court as it is constituted from time to time, the power of each house of the legislature is contemporaneous under Article III, Section (4)(a). In contrast to the legislative power to make law under Article III, Sections 7 and 8, the power of each house to govern its procedural affairs under Article III, Section (4)(a) does not require the concurrence of the other house of the legislature nor of the governor. A statutory scheme, such as Chapter 119, which required the House of Representatives to obtain the concurrence of the Senate and Governor in order to alter or amend the way it governs its papers would be violative of Article III, Section 4(a).

The 1990 Florida Legislature underscored both the correctness of Moffitt v. Willis and the application of the separation of powers doctrine to internal procedures of the legislature with the passage of Senate Joint Resolutions 1990 and 2. (Appendix D). Pursuant to Article II, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution, the House of Representatives and the Senate agreed upon an amendment to Article III, Section 4, which was approved by the voters in the November 1990 general election. The constitutional amendment adds a new subsection stating that the rules of procedure of each house shall provide for open meetings among legislators. The principle articulated by this Court in Moffitt v. Willis, that each house has the power to interpret and enforce its own rules, is carried into the proposed constitutional amendment in language that is unequivocal:

Each house shall be the sole judge for the interpretation, implementation, and enforcement of this section.

The House of Representatives implemented the new constitutional amendment at its organization session on November 20, 1990 with the creation of Rule 2.7 and 5.19 entitled "Open Meetings" (Appendix C).

The error of the district court lies in its belief that no separation of powers issue was before it because the records involved were those of "a particular member of a particular legislature, and not to the internal records of the legislature itself..." (A-3). This Court in Moffitt v. Willis determined that it had no jurisdiction to address the several grounds asserted against the legislature, including the applicability of Section 286.011, Florida Statutes, which requires that meetings of "any state agency" be open to the public. This Court reasoned that crossing the threshold of inquiry into the meaning of what activity constitutes a legislative meeting would lead inevitably to a conflict with the legislative prerogative. Here the district court exercised no such restraint.

The district court's attempt to make distinctions between kinds of legislative records demonstrates its error. No legislative records exist at all except at the instance of individual members of the legislature. Once having crossed the jurisdictional threshold and embarked on an inquiry into what constitutes a legislative record, the district court could not properly ignore the fact that the House of Representatives had

addressed the matter. The court had to be immediately drawn into an examination and interpretation of the provisions of House Rule 1.11 entitled "Legislative Records". This Rule sets forth which categories of legislative papers and records are available for public inspection. It is at this point that the district court's inquiry runs into direct conflict with the constitutional power of the legislature, as <a href="Moffitt v. Willis">Moffitt v. Willis</a> states, to "interpret, enforce, waive or suspend whatever procedures it deems necessary or desireable". As previously noted, the House has recently, by rule amendment, construed the meaning of legislative records in a way directly contrary to the construction of the district court. Under the November 1990 amendments to House Rule 1.11 (Appendix C-1), legislative records include those maintained by individual members in district offices.

The teachings of this Court on the nature of separation of powers doctrine show that the doctrine was overlooked or misapplied by the district court. The decision of the lower tribunal would leave the status of open government in disarray. This Court, unwilling to invade the legislative province in Moffitt v. Willis, refused to apply the open meetings statute to the legislature. Despite Moffitt v. Willis, the district court would incongruously apply the public records act to the legislature. Analytically, Moffitt v. Willis cannot be distinguished from the instant case.

#### POINT II

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING AS A MATTER OF STATUTORY INTERPRETATION THAT CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, HAS APPLICATION TO THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE.

The district court, having crossed the jurisdictional threshold, misapplied principles of statutory construction and entered upon a thicket with consequences that are erroneous, farreaching and unintended. The touchstone of the applicability of Chapter 119 is the definition of public record, which means papers received or produced by an "agency"--, i.e. a "unit of government created or established by law". The opinion of the district court would erroneously bring two independent, co-equal branches of Florida government into Chapter 119 by first characterizing a member of the legislature or a member of the judiciary as a statutory "state officer" and by then equating the term "state officer" with the term "agency".

The plain language of Chapter 119, its statutory history, and all external indicia of legislative intent show that Chapter 119 does not and was not intended to have application to the legislative branch of Florida government. The analysis of the scope of the Public Records Act begins with an examination of the definition section. The records described in Chapter 119 are those generated by "any agency". "Agency" is defined in Section 119.011(2) as follows:

"Agency" means any state, county, district, authority, or municipal officer, department, division, board, bureau, commission, or other separate unit of government created or established by law and any other public or private agency,

person, partnership, corporation, or business entity acting on behalf of any public agency.

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