IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 76,090

(Consolidated with Case No. 76,803)

FILED

SID J. WHITE

CLERK SUPPLIME COUR

Deputy Clerk

DICK LOCKE,

Petitioner,

vs.

PAUL M. HAWKES,

Respondent.

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District State of Florida

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
PAUL M. HAWKES
to the Initial Brief of Petitioner Locke and to the
Brief of Amicus Curiae Florida House of Representatives

VALERIE W. EVANS, Esq. Florida Bat No. 559784 1808 Kaluma Court Orlando, Florida 32806 407/422-0502 Attorney for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Although the Legislature has the power to determine its own rules of procedure pursuant to the Florida Constitution, a rule of procedure is not even questioned in this action. The Legislature passed a substantive law, Chapter 119, the Public Records Law; this law created a substantive right, granting to the people of the state of Florida the right to inspect public records so that the people could know how its business was being conducted. At most, all the House of Representatives accomplished according to LOCKE was to pass a rule which merely restated this substantive law. The House did not pass a rule of procedure determining how this substantive law would be effectuated. Neither did it pass a rule which was contrary to the Public Records Law. Even if the House had passed such rules, no one is asking the court to determine the meaning of these rules and no one is complaining that the House violated its own rules of procedure. The Legislature has the power to create a substantive right and it is the duty of the courts to enforce that substantive right. For a court to refuse to enforce the substantive law amounts to an unconstitutional abdication of judicial duty. LOCKE asserts that the Public Records Law is applicable neither to the judiciary nor to the legislature because of the separation of powers doctrine. LOCKE asserts that the Legislature can pass a law which is applicable only to the Executive Branch. This rationale is illogical at best. Such reasoning dictates that the Legislative branch cannot dictate to the Judicial Branch nor to the Executive Branch. If the Legislature also cannot dictate to itself, then to whom does Chapter 119 apply? To no one? Then, what is the meaning of the "Public Records Law"? The Legislature does have the power to pass its own internal rules of procedure, but the Legislature does not have the power to exempt itself from substantive law by passing a "rule of procedure" which is contrary to a policy commitment of the state of Florida--such an exemption would be subject to judicial action. Thus neither the plain language of the statute, long-standing public policy, nor Florida case law supports LOCKE's contentions. There simply is no rule of procedure in question and for the court to make a finding of fact that the subject matter of this action involves the internal procedures of the House is error (it is error especially to make such a finding of fact in a Motion to

Dismiss). There is simply no basis for such a ruling.

Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, the Public Records Law, does apply to the legislative branch of Florida government. The Florida Legislature itself, in §119.01, directed in very strong terms that "all state, county, and municipal records shall at all times be open for a personal inspection by any person." In 1975, the Legislature amended the Public Records Law, which had been codified since 1909, to require that any exemptions from the Public Records Law be only those exemptions which were "provided by law." The Legislature had the power to exempt itself from the effect of this law but instead it chose not to, for to do so would thwart the long-standing public policy that the public has a right to know how its business is being conducted. The Attorney General of Florida has been asked on various occasions to answer the question of whether Chapter 119 applies to legislators. Each time the answer has been in the affirmative. The plain wording of the law states that this law is applicable to any state officer, and according to the Attorney General, the law is applicable to any and all state officers, including legislators. Otherwise, the legislature would not have used such all-encompassing language. The Attorney General noted that it is illogical to require local boards to comply with open government laws while at the same time excluding from the law the body which has the greatest impact on the lives and affairs of the people of the state. The Attorney General also opined that in the absence of a House rule of procedure to the contrary, the Public Records Law is applicable to records made or received by legislators in the course of transacting their official business. The case law which has evolved since the 1975 amendment clearly holds that the courts cannot carve out exemptions where the Legislature has not created exemptions. In effect, the trial court in this case has done just that--the legislature did not exempt itself but this trial court judicially exempted the entire legislative branch of government. Such action is clearly an error as a matter of law. The District Court of Appeal committed no error when it reversed the trial court below.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THERE CAN BE NO SEPARATION OF POWERS PROBLEM AS TO THE LEGISLATURE ENACTING A STATUTE THAT APPLIES TO THE LEGISLATURE.

LOCKE and THE FLORIDA HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES (hereinafter "THE HOUSE") correctly quote Article III, Section 4(a) of the Florida Constitution: "Each house shall determine its rules of procedure." They also correctly quote Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution: "The powers of the state government shall be divided into legislative, executive and judicial branches. No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein."

Neither LOCKE nor THE HOUSE, however, points to any constitutional provision which expressly allows the Legislature to control by statutory law the procedure for withholding from public scrutiny or for releasing for public scrutiny papers created by the Executive Branch or papers created by the Judicial Branch. Yet the Legislature, through Chapter 119 and its predecessors dating back to 1909, has provided a substantive right to the people of the state of Florida to inspect personally all state, county, and municipal records. Chapter 119 even provides the procedure by which this right can be exercised. The Judiciary did not provide this substantive right; nor did the Executive provide this substantive right. The Legislature has the power to confer substantive rights through statutory laws and to provide the procedure by which these statutory rights can be exercised. Neither LOCKE nor THE HOUSE question this power. For the Legislature to confer upon the people of the state of Florida the right to inspect papers created by the members of the legislature is clearly within its power. How, then, can exercising that power violate the Separation of Powers clause found at Article II, section 3 of the Florida Constitution as quoted in the above paragraph? If anything, for the legislature to confer upon the people of the state of Florida the right to inspect Executive and Judicial branch papers violates the Separation of Powers clause. But how can the Legislature pass a statute applicable to the Legislature and then complain that the Separation of Powers clause has been violated?

Certainly the Judiciary did not violate the Separation of Powers clause when the Legislature in 1909 passed the predecessor of Chapter 119 and when later legislatures amended this Public Records Law throughout this century. So the real question remains: Did the Judiciary violate the Separation of Powers clause when it interpreted or construed Chapter 119 in its opinion of March 8, 1990? In *Moffitt v. Willis*, 459 So.2d 1018 (Fla. 1984), the case upon which LOCKE and THE HOUSE rely on most heavily, the Florida Supreme Court gives the answer unequivocally:

It is the final product of the legislature that is subject to review by the courts, not the internal procedures. As we stated in *General Motors Acceptance Corp. v. State*, 152 Fla. 297, 303, 11 So.2d 482, 485 (1943), the legislature has the power to enact measures, while the judiciary is restricted to the construction or interpretation thereof.

All the District Court did on March 8, 1990, was construe or interpret Chapter 119 to conclude that Chapter 119 applies to the Legislative Branch. The District Court did not review any internal procedure of the legislature. In fact, for the District Court NOT to construe or interpret Chapter 119 would have been an unconstitutional abdication of its duty.

Additionally, the Legislature through specific provisions on Chapter 119 itself requires judicial intervention for purposes of enforcement of Chapter 119:

The legislative objective underlying the creation of chapter 119 was to insure to the people of Florida the right freely to gain access to governmental records. The purpose for such inquiry is immaterial. The breadth of such right is virtually unfettered, save for the statutory exemptions designed to achieve a balance between an informed public and the ability of government to maintain secrecy in the public interest. The exclusive technique adopted by the legislature for the accomplishment of the Act's purposes is judicial intervention. When the demand for disclosure competes with a public interest, asserted to be protected by a statutory exemption, the judiciary's role is to insure that the governmental claim does not defeat the right to disclosure. [Citations omitted.]

Lorei v. Smith, 464 So.2d 1330, 1332 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), rev. den., 475 So.2d 695 (Fla. 1985). Neither LOCKE nor THE HOUSE has asserted an exemption based upon a need to maintain secrecy in the public interest. The judiciary's role, therefore, is to insure that neither LOCKE's claim nor THE HOUSE's claim to exemption defeats the right to disclosure. Chapter 119.11 not only provides for judicial intervention but also provides that this case shall have priority over other pending cases.

But LOCKE and THE HOUSE would argue that HAWKES did not ask the court to enforce Chapter 119 but rather that HAWKES asked the court to enforce House Rule 1.11. Such an argument was propounded *Moffitt v. Willis, supra*. The Supreme Court there pointed out that in order to determine jurisdiction, it must first identify the precise activity complained of in the suit below. The publishing companies alleged that certain groups of individuals, which they identified as house and senate committees, held secret closed meetings during the 1981 legislative session. They did not complain of or challenge any specific act or law promulgated by the legislature. Rather, the complaint was that the house and senate violated their own rules of procedure. The Supreme Court held:

While the judiciary certainly has the power to determine what effect a statute has and to whom it applies as well as its constitutionality, that is not the issue before us today. We are not confronted with whether a statute applies, rather we are asked to allow the courts to determine when and low legislative rules apply to members of the legislature.

Moffitt v. Willis, at 1021-22.

This court must conduct the same scrutiny of the petition filed in the trial court. (Appendix A) The petition solely requests the Court to enter an Order requiring compliance with Chapter 119 Florida Statutes. There is no reference to any rule of procedure whatsoever. THERE ARE NO RULES OF PROCEDURE INVOLVED. There is no complaint that THE HOUSE has violated its own rule of procedure. Neither LOCKE nor THE HOUSE can point to any rule of procedure involved in the petition before the trial court.

LOCKE and THE HOUSE, however, argue that Rule 1.11 of the Florida House of Representatives should have been the subject matter of the petition below. Scrutiny of the petition interestingly reveals that HAWKES made his first request for inspection on July 7, 1988; he made another request on August 5, 1988; other requests were also made. Finally HAWKES filed his petition on September 8, 1988. The Florida Constitution requires that "[o]n the fourteenth day following each general election the legislature shall convene for the exclusive purpose of organization and selection of officers." Article III, Section 3(a). At the organization session held on November 22, 1988, Rule 1.11 was created. (Appendix B) There is no way that Rule 1.11 could have been the subject matter of the

instant case--it did not exist. At the organization session held on November 20, 1990, the House adopted an amended Rule 1.11. (Appendix C) Neither could this rule have been the subject matter of the pending litigation--it did not exist.

This case simply does not present the issue that was involved in *Moffitt v. Willis*, *supra*. This court, therefore, has never ruled on the issue presented here. The decision of the District Court of Appeal is correct.

Next, let us hypothetically assume for purposes of discussion only that House Rule 1.11 did exist at the time of the Chapter 119 request and subsequent lawsuit filed to enforce LOCKE's refusal to produce pursuant to Chapter 119. The question becomes: Did the House exempt the legislature from the effect of Chapter 119 by passing House Rule 1.11?

What is at issue here is a <u>substantive</u> right--the right to disclosure of public records made or received pursuant to law. Courts have repeatedly heard cases involving this substantive right and repeatedly have held that the right is substantive, not procedural. *Hillsborough County Aviation Authority v. Azzarelli Construction Company, Inc.*, 436 So.2d 153 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). The legislature does have the power to confer substantive rights and access to public records is a substantive right. *Coleman v. Austin*, 521 So.2d 247 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). The <u>only</u> time when a house rule of procedure controls over a statute is when the statute relates to <u>procedure</u> and only to the extent that the rule conflicts with the statute relating to procedure. Op. Atty. Gen. 075-282, November 18, 1975. A substantive right conferred by the Legislature cannot be taken away from the people by a House rule of procedure. The Legislature cannot adopt a policy to exempt itself from the application of a general law. *Douglas v. Michel*, 410 So.2d 936, 938 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982).

The 1988 Rule 1.11 provides:

There shall be available for public inspection and records developed and received in the course of legislative business as follows: . . . (j) all records which are required by these rules or express law to be made or retained. (Appendix B)

The 1990 Rule 1.11 provides:

There shall be available for public inspection, whether maintained in Tallahassee or in a district office, the papers and records developed and received in the course of legislative business as

follows: . . . (j) all records which are required by these rules to be made or retained. (Appendix C)

Section 119.01(1), Florida Statutes, provides:

It is the policy of this state that all state, county, and municipal records shall at all times be open for a personal inspection by any person.

Section 119.011(1), Florida Statutes, provides:

"Public records" means all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, photographs, films, sound recordings or other material, regardless of physical form or characteristics, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction of official business by any agency.

Obviously, Chapter 119 and Rule 1.11 cover substantive rights, albeit Chapter 119 is more broad. Neither of the House rules provide for the procedure to be followed for inspection. Neither does the new constitutional amendment related to open meetings passed by the citizens of the state of Florida on November 6, 1990, address the public records issue and enforcement thereof. (Appendix D) LOCKE, at page 11 of his Initial Brief, quotes a small portion of the new amendment: "Each house shall be the sole judge for the interpretation, implementation, enforcement of this section." [Emphasis added.] This section refers solely to open meetings. The new amendment does not even mention access to public records. House Rule 1.11 is not a rule of procedure and the House does not have exclusive jurisdiction to interpret and enforce Chapter 119 by passing a similar house rule. The only time when a house rule of procedure controls over a statute is when the statute relates to procedure and only to the extent that the rule conflicts with the statute relating to procedure. Op. Atty. Gen. 075-282, November 18, 1975. The House Rule mentions no procedure whatsoever, much less any procedure which is in conflict with Chapter 119.

Additionally, the legislature itself provided in Chapter 119 at \$119.07(3) an all-inclusive list of exemptions from the effect of Chapter 119. THE LEGISLATURE DID NOT LIST ITSELF! If the intent of the legislature were to exempt itself, it surely could have. Section \$119.07(3)(a) provides:

All public records which are presently provided by law to be confidential or which are prohibited from being inspected by the public, whether by general or special law, are exempt from the provisions of subsection (1).

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